FILED 7/24/2017 1:38 PM Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

	SUPREME COURT NO
	NO. 72306-5-I
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON	
In re Deter	ntion of Calvin Malone,
STATE	OF WASHINGTON,
	Respondent,
	v.
CAI	LVIN MALONE,
	Petitioner.
	THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE TON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY
The Honorable	e Michael T. Downes, Judge
PETIT	ION FOR REVIEW
	MARY T. SWIFT Attorney for Petitioner
	NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122

(206) 623-2373

C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
	1. State's Expert: Amy Phenix 3
	2. Malone's Expert: Joseph Plaud
D.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 9
	1. REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO PROVIDE GUIDANCE TO THE COURTS OF WASHINGTON STATE AS TO WHETHER HEBEPHILIA MEETS THE FRYE STANDARD
	a. The court of appeal's decision conflicts with this Court's decision in <i>Black</i> , warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).
	b. <u>Definitive guidance from this Court is needed as to</u> whether hebephilia meets the <i>Frye</i> standard
	c. Alternatively, Malone's counsel was ineffective for failing to expressly request a <i>Frye</i> hearing on Phenix's hebephilia diagnosis
	d. Alternatively, Phenix's "other specified paraphilic disorder" diagnosis should have been excluded under ER 702 as misleading, unreliable, and not helpful to the jury.

TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONT'D) Page 2. THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW TO DETERMINE WHETHER AN INSTRUCTION ON THE POSSIBILITY OF A RECENT OVERT ACT PETITION IS APPROPRIATE, GIVEN THIS COURT'S DECISION IN POST 22 a. An instruction is appropriate under *Post* because a recent overt act petition is a condition to which Malone b. Malone was denied a fair trial because the State misrepresented the law in rebuttal by arguing Malone would be subject to no other conditions than those MALONE WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL BECAUSE THE STATE PURPOSEFULLY DISPARAGED THE

CONCLUSION......34

E.

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page
WASHINGTON CASES
<u>Conner v. Universal Utilities</u> 105 Wn.2d 168, 712 P.2d 849 (1986)
<u>In re Det. of Black</u> 189 Wn. App. 641, 357 P.3d 91 (2015) rev'd on other grounds, 187 Wn.2d 148, 385 P.3d 765 (2016)
<u>In re Det. of Black</u> 198 Wn. App. 1023, 2017 WL 1137114 (March 27, 2017)
<u>In re Det. of Hendrickson</u> 140 Wn.2d 686, 2 P.3d 473 (2000)
<u>In re Det. of Leck</u> 180 Wn. App. 492, 334 P.3d 1109 (2014)
<u>In re Det. of Taylor</u> 132 Wn. App. 827, 134 P.3d 254 (2006)
<u>In re Det. of Post</u> 170 Wn.2d 302, 21 P.3d 1234 (2010)
<u>In re Det. of Berry</u> 160 Wn. App. 374, 248 P.3d 592 (2011)
<u>In re Pers. Restraint of Meirhofer</u> 182 Wn.2d 632, 343 P.3d 731 (2015)
<u>State v. Allen</u> 182 Wn.2d 364, 341 P.3d 268 (2015)
<u>State v. Becker</u> 132 Wn.2d 54, 935 P.2d 1321 (1997)
State v. Black 109 Wn.2d 336, 745 P.2d 12 (1987)1, 9, 11, 12, 13, 17

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D)

Page
<u>State v. Braham</u> 67 Wn. App. 930, 841 P.2d 785 (1992)
<u>State v. Camara</u> 113 Wn.2d 631, 781 P.2d 483 (1989)
<u>State v. Condon</u> 182 Wn.2d 307, 343 P.3d 357 (2015)
<u>State v. Gore</u> 143 Wn.2d 288, 21 P.3d 262 (2001)
<u>State v. Greene</u> 92 Wn. App. 80, 960 P.2d 980 (1998)
<u>State v. Greene</u> 139 Wn.2d 64, 984 P.2d 1024 (1999)
<u>State v. Gunderson</u> 181 Wn.2d 916, 337 P.3d 1090 (2014)
<u>State v. Harris</u> 141 Wn. App. 673 174 P.3d 1171 (2007)
<u>State v. Hughes</u> 154 Wn.2d 118, 110 P.3d 192 (2005)
<u>State v. Lindsay</u> 180 Wn.2d 423, 326 P.3d 125 (2014)
<u>State v. McCullum</u> 98 Wn.2d 848, 656 P.2d 1064 (1983)
<u>State v. Pittman</u> 54 Wn. App. 58, 772 P.2d 516 (1989)
<u>State v. Riker</u> 123 Wn.2d 351, 869 P.2d 43 (1994)

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D)	
Page	
<u>State v. Thomas</u> 109 Wn.2d 222, 743 P.2d 816 (1987)	
<u>State v. Thorgerson</u> 172 Wn.2d 438, 258 P.3d 43 (2011)	
<u>In re Pers. Restraint of Young</u> 122 Wn.2d 1, 857 P.2d 989 (1993)	
FEDERAL CASES	
<u>Strickland v. Washington</u> 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)	
OTHER JURISDICTIONS	
<u>In re Det. of New</u> 386 Ill. Dec. 643, 21 N.E.3d 406 (Ill. 2014)	
RULES, STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES	
Allen Frances & Michael B. First Hebephilia Is Not a Mental Disorder in the DSM-IV-TR and Should Not Become One in DSM-5, 39 J. Am. ACAD. PSYCHIATRY & L. 78 (2011) 16	
John Matthew Fabian <u>Diagnosing and Litigating Hebephilia in Sexually Violent Predator</u> <u>Civil Commitment Proceedings</u> , 39 J. Am. Acad. Psychiatry & L. 496 (2011)	
Philip Tromovitch, Manufacturing Mental Disorder by Pathologizing Erotic Age Orientation: A Comment on Blanchard et al. (2008) 38 ARCHIVES OF SEXUAL BEHAV. 328 (2009)	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D)

Page Ray Blanchard et al.
Pedophilia, Hebephilia, and the <i>DSM-V</i> 38 ARCHIVES OF SEXUAL BEHAV. 335 (2009)
Thomas K. Zander <u>Adult Sexual Attraction to Early-Stage Adolescents: Phallometry</u> <u>Doesn't Equal Pathology</u> , 38 ARCHIVES ON SEXUAL BEHAV. 329 (2008) 15
ER 703
ER 103
ER 403
ER 702
RAP 1.2
RAP 13.4
RCW 71.09
RCW 71.09.020
RCW 71.09.030
RCW 71.09.050
RCW 71.09.060

A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/COURT OF APPEALS DECISION</u>

Petitioner Calvin Malone asks this Court to grant review of the court of appeals' unpublished decision in <u>In re Detention of Malone</u>, No. 72306-5-I, filed May 30, 2017 (Appendix A). The court of appeals denied Malone's motion for reconsideration on June 23, 2017 (Appendix B).

B. <u>ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

- 1. Before trial, Malone moved to preclude the State's expert from testifying to her diagnosis of other specified paraphilic disorder, nonconsent, which she admitted was a diagnosis of hebephilia (sexual attraction to pubescent and postpubescent youth).
- a. Malone argued hebephilia was "not currently accepted as a legitimate diagnosis in the scientific community." Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) where the court of appeals held this was insufficient to preserve a <u>Frye</u> objection, in direct conflict with this Court's decision in <u>State v. Black</u>, 109 Wn.2d 336, 745 P.2d 12 (1987)?
- b. Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) so this Court may definitively decide whether the diagnosis of hebephilia meets the Frye standard?
- c. Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) to determine whether Malone's counsel was ineffective for failing to expressly request a Frye hearing?

- d. Was the diagnosis also inadmissible under ER 702 because it was misleading, unreliable, and not helpful to the jury?
- 2. Malone requested a jury instruction on the possibility of a recent overt act petition—a condition of his release. The trial court denied the instruction, believing it would be a comment on the evidence.
- a. Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (b)(4) to determine whether an instruction on the possibility of a recent over act petition is appropriate, given this Court's decision <u>In re Detention</u> of Post, 170 Wn.2d 302, 241 P.3d 1234 (2010)?
- b. Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) to determine whether the State committed prejudicial misconduct by arguing in rebuttal Malone would only be subject to the conditions in his judgment and sentence, contrary to <u>Post</u>?
- 3. Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) to determine whether the State's egregious disparagement of defense counsel in rebuttal prejudiced Malone, combined with the above errors?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 29, 2012, the State filed a petition to involuntarily commit Calvin Malone as a sexually violent predator (SVP) under chapter 71.09 RCW. CP 960-61. The State alleged Malone was convicted of sexually violent offenses—first degree child rape and two counts of first

degree child molestation—on January 26, 1993 in Snohomish County. CP 960. In its certification of probable cause, the State recounted several other adjudicated and alleged sex offenses against boys ages 11 to 15. CP 962-69.

The case was first tried in February and March of 2014. The jury could not reach a unanimous verdict. CP 322. The trial court declared a mistrial, and the case proceeded to a new trial in July 2014. 5RP 14. The trial lasted two weeks. Fourteen witnesses testified or provided depositions in support of Malone's release. 15RP 868; 16RP 1046-1157. They included several Buddhist leaders, the chaplain at the Special Commitment Center (SCC), and a clinical psychologist at the SCC, among others. 16RP 1075, 1100-02, 1112-13; CP 1186, 1214, 1250-57, 1270. Malone's opening brief recounts these witnesses' testimony in detail, as well as Malone's own testimony. Br. of Appellant, at 4-9, 18-21.

1. State's Expert: Amy Phenix

Dr. Matthew Logan testified as the State's expert in the first trial. CP 553; 3RP 1. He diagnosed Malone with pedophilic disorder, sexually attracted to males, nonexclusive type; polysubstance dependence (including alcohol), in remission through a controlled environment; and adult antisocial behavior. CP 554; 3RP 33, 41-43, 70-75. Of these diagnoses, Logan testified pedophilia alone was a mental abnormality that diminished Malone's ability to control his sexually violent behavior. 3RP 89-94.

In between the first and second trial, Logan retired, so the State retained Dr. Amy Phenix as its expert in the second trial. 12RP 224-25; 14RP 773. Phenix conducted a document review of Malone's records, but never interviewed or asked to interview Malone, contrary to the American Psychological Association's ethical guidelines. 12RP 240-42; 13RP 432-35. Based on this review, Phenix diagnosed Malone with two sexual abnormalities or "paraphilias": pedophilic disorder, sexually attracted to males, nonexclusive type, and a new diagnosis of other specified paraphilic disorder, nonconsent. 12RP 249, 266-68. Phenix also diagnosed Malone with opioid use disorder based on his past heroin use. 12RP 249, 271. Phenix testified all three constituted mental abnormalities. 12RP 291.

Phenix explained pedophilic disorder means sexual arousal to prepubescent children, which is defined by the DSM-5 generally as children 13 years or younger. 12RP 252, 257-58. Nonexclusive pedophilia means the individual is not attracted to only children, but also teenagers and adults. 12RP 255. Phenix believed Malone met the criteria for pedophilia because he had a "clear sexual preference for boys from age 11 to about age 16," even though this includes pubescent and postpubescent boys. 12RP 263.

Phenix testified her diagnosis of "other specified paraphilic disorder" also comes from the DSM-5. 12RP 265-68. She claimed:

Every individual with abnormal sexual arousal doesn't fit neatly into the specific categories under a paraphilia in the DSM-5. So when there is an individual with an abnormal sexual arousal pattern over at least a six-month period of time and there's no specific descriptor in the paraphilia chapter, you would use this category, other specified paraphilic disorder, which allowed you to essentially describe the disorder that is not listed in the DSM-5 category of paraphilias.

12RP 266-67. Phenix diagnosed Malone with other specified paraphilic disorder, nonconsent because "he engages in and is aroused to sexual activity with boys who are essentially going through puberty and just postpuberty." 12RP 367. She explained she added the descriptor of nonconsent because the boys were legally incapable of consenting based on their ages. 12RP 267-68; 14RP 787.

On cross, Phenix admitted her diagnosis of other specified paraphilic disorder, nonconsent was really a diagnosis of hebephilia. 13RP 497-99. Hebephilia is loosely defined as sexual attraction to pubescent or postpubescent youth. 13RP 495-96. The American Psychiatric Association rejected it for inclusion in the DSM-5 "both for conceptual and practical reasons." 13RP 497-99. Phenix agreed the DSM-5 editors do not consider hebephilia to be a legitimate paraphilia because the sexual arousal pattern is not inherently deviant. 13RP 539-40. Phenix also agreed there is significant criticism of hebephilia in the scientific community. 13RP 498-501.

Phenix believed Malone's pedophilia, hebephilia, and opioid use disorder each made him likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility. 12RP 291-92, 370-71. Phenix acknowledged, though, that older individuals like Malone are less likely to reoffend. 12RP 353. She further acknowledged the five-year recidivism rate for sex offenders over 60 is only two percent. 13RP 595.

2. Malone's Expert: Joseph Plaud

Dr. Joseph Plaud again testified as Malone's expert, as he did in the first trial. 15RP 868. He is a licensed psychologist with 27 years of experience evaluating and treating sex offenders. 15RP 868-69. During his career, Plaud has been published over 100 times in peer reviewed journals, treated over 1,000 sex offenders, and testified more than 600 times in civil commitment proceedings. 15RP 873, 878, 885-86.

In 2012, Dr. Plaud began reviewing Malone's records, including his criminal history, institutional history, disciplinary reports, police reports, as well as Malone's developmental and sexual history. 15RP 886-87. Plaud received updated records throughout the case. 15RP 887. He also conducted two clinical interviews with Malone at the SCC: one after his initial records review and one in June 2014 just before the second trial. 15RP 887.

Using objective personality testing, Plaud concluded there were no indications Malone suffered from any personality disorder. 15RP 889-91.

Plaud also concluded Malone did not have any mental abnormalities. 15RP 892. Plaud explained the hallmark feature of pedophilic disorder is recurrent and intense sexually arousing fantasies, urges, or behaviors involving prepubescent children over a period of at least six months. 15RP 894-95. Malone did not meet these criteria. 15RP 895.

Plaud explained the only way to determine whether an individual is a pedophile is not based on the victims' ages, but on their sexual development, which is measured by the Tanner Stages. 15RP 907-08. Pedophilia encompasses only Tanner Stage 1, which for boys means no pubic hair or enlargement of the testes or penis. 12RP 257-58; 15RP 1009. Tanner Stage 2 for boys means some pubic hair and enlarged penis and testicles. 13RP 470. At 11 years old, nearly 72 percent of white males have entered puberty, or Tanner Stage 2. 13RP 470. By age 12, 83 percent have started puberty. 13RP 473. The mean age for boys entering Tanner Stage 2 is 10.3 years old. 15RP 908. Though the DSM-5 classifies prepubescence as 13 years old or younger, Plaud explained, the "vast majority" of 11 to 13 years olds are in puberty. 15RP 906. Moreover, most of Malone's victims were 13, 14, and 15 years old or older, which is pubescent and postpubescent. 15RP 897.

Plaud testified he did not diagnose Malone with hebephilia because it is not a valid diagnosis. 15RP 913-21. He explained the "other specified

paraphilic disorder" designation in the DSM is reserved "for low frequency types of disorders." 15RP 914. Plaud opined:

But if you're referring to sexual behavior or sexual interest, sexual fantasies, urges with pubescents, postpubescents who are not legally able to give consent, it's a legal term and it varies significantly in the states and in the world. Some places it's 12 years old. For example, Spain, the country of Spain, 12 is the age of consent for sexual behavior. In Massachusetts where I'm from it's 16. The federal is 18. So it varies significantly.

15RP 914. And therein lies the problem with hebephilia, Plaud explained. Hebephilia was considered and ultimately rejected from the DSM-5 because it is not deviant "from a physiological sexual arousal perspective." 15RP 915. Plaud testified the diagnosis was "nonsense" and has "not been empirically validated." 15RP 917.

Plaud further testified Malone's offenses were not the product of any mental abnormality, but rather that he was actively engaged in cognitive distortions during the offending period. 15RP 901. Cognitive distortions "generally refer to strategies, conscious or not, that relate to offenders giving themselves permission to engage in sexual[ly] abusive behavior such that it doesn't really have the consequences that it does... Minimizing, denying problems." 15RP 901. During his offense period, Malone "was not thinking about the consequences of the victims." 15RP 901. This, combined with his very heavy substance abuse, contributed to Malone's offense cycle. 15RP

902. In addition, Malone struggled with his own sexual identity and being molested as a child. 15RP 900-02.

The jury found the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Malone is an SVP. CP 100; 18RP 1481. The trial court ordered Malone committed to the SCC. CP 99. Malone timely appealed. CP 96-98. The court of appeals affirmed Malone's commitment. Notably, the court of appeals never once mentioned Dr. Plaud or any of Malone's 14 other witnesses in reviewing Malone's claims and conducting prejudice analyses. The details of the court of appeals' decision are discussed in detail below.

D. <u>ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED</u>

- 1. REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO PROVIDE GUIDANCE TO THE COURTS OF WASHINGTON STATE AS TO WHETHER HEBEPHILIA MEETS THE FRYE STANDARD.
 - a. The court of appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *Black*, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

On appeal, Malone argued Phenix's hebephilia diagnosis should have been excluded under <u>Frye</u> or the trial court should have held a <u>Frye</u> hearing to determine its admissibility. Br. of Appellant, at 22-33. Under <u>Frye</u>, novel scientific evidence is admissible only where (1) the scientific theory upon which the evidence is based has gained general acceptance in the relevant scientific community; and (2) there are generally accepted

methods of applying the theory in a manner capable of producing reliable results. State v. Riker, 123 Wn.2d 351, 359, 869 P.2d 43 (1994). While unanimity is not required, scientific evidence is inadmissible "[i]f there is a significant dispute among qualified scientists in the relevant scientific community." State v. Gore, 143 Wn.2d 288, 302, 21 P.3d 262 (2001), overruled on other grounds by State v. Hughes, 154 Wn.2d 118, 110 P.3d 192 (2005).

Before trial, Malone argued the diagnosis was inadmissible under ER 702 and 703. CP 191-201. In doing so, Malone presented extensive scholarly research showing "how highly contested and soundly rejected this diagnosis is within the scientific community." 9RP 84; CP 193-98. Malone asserted hebephilia "has never been and is not currently accepted as a legitimate diagnosis in the scientific community." CP 191; see also CP 198 (asserting "the validity of this diagnosis and the criteria for this diagnosis has been widely disputed in the psychological community"); 9RP 83 (arguing hebephilia "has actually been rejected in the scientific community"). Though Malone did not utter the magic word "Frye," he was clearly arguing the diagnosis did not meet the Frye standard.

The court of appeals, however, declined to reach the merits of Malone's <u>Frye</u> challenge, holding it was not preserved:

Malone's challenge to this diagnosis was under ER 702 and 703. He did not object on the basis of <u>Frye</u>. He did not request a <u>Frye</u> hearing. The trial court ruled on this issue under ER 702 and 703.[1] Making an ER 702 challenge does not preserve a <u>Frye</u> challenge for appeal. We conclude that Malone did not preserve for appeal the issue of whether Dr. Phenix's diagnosis satisfies <u>Frye</u>.

Opinion, at 8 (citing <u>In re Det. of Taylor</u>, 132 Wn. App. 827, 836, 134 P.3d 254 (2006)).

The court of appeals' decision elevates form over substance and is inconsistent with the rules of evidence. Under ER 103(a)(1), objection to an evidentiary error is preserved where "the specific basis for the objection is 'apparent from the context." State v. Braham, 67 Wn. App. 930, 935, 841 P.2d 785 (1992) (quoting State v. Pittman, 54 Wn. App. 58, 66, 772 P.2d 516 (1989)). Malone's Frye objection was apparent from the context, where he presented significant scholarly research challenging the hebephilia diagnosis and repeatedly stated the Frye standard.

The court of appeals' decision also conflicts with this Court's long-standing decision in <u>Black</u>. There, the State introduced expert testimony that the alleged rape victim suffered from rape trauma syndrome, which purports to describe symptoms commonly experienced by rape victims.

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