FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/5/2017 3:56 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 72306-5-I

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of:

CALVIN MALONE,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

#### STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVEIW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

ELISE DESCHENES Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 37853, OID No. 91094 Attorney General's Office 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389-2019

##

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

#### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. Malone Fails to Demonstrate that Further Review Regarding the Admissibility of the Diagnosis of Otherwise Specified Paraphilic Disorder is Warranted Under RAP 13.4.

In the Court of Appeals, Malone made multiple claims of error related to the admissibility of the diagnosis of Otherwise Specified Paraphilic Disorder, Nonconsent. The Court of Appeals properly applied this Court's prior guidance to each of Malone's claims. Malone now fails to show why this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b).

1. The Court of Appeals Properly Concluded That Malone Failed to Preserve the *Frye* Issue, Consistent with Prior Decisions of this Court.

The Court of Appeals correctly declined to address Malone's claim that Dr. Phenix's diagnosis of Other Specified Paraphilic Disorder, Nonconsent should have been excluded under *Frye* because Malone failed to seek a *Frye* hearing below and thus failed to preserve the issue for appeal. *Opinion* at 8. This decision is consistent with prior decisions of this Court, as well as the Court of Appeals. *E.g.*, *Johnston-Forbes v. Matsunaga*, 181 Wn.2d 346, 356, 333 P. 3d 388 (2014); *In re Det. of Post*, 145 Wn. App. 728, 755, 187 P.3d 803 (2008), *aff'd* 170 Wn.2d 32, 241 P.3d 1234 (2010);

In re Det. of Taylor, 132 Wn. App. 827, 836, 134 P.3d 254 (2006), rev. denied, 159 Wn.2d 1006, 153 P.3d 196 (2007). There is no basis for this Court's further review.

In *Johnston-Forbes*, this Court affirmatively approved the lower appellate court's reliance on *In re Det. of Post* for the proposition that a party who fails to seek a *Frye* hearing below does not preserve the issue for appeal. *See Johnston-Forbes*, 181 Wn.2d at 356 (citing *Johnston-Forbes*, 177 Wn. App. 402, 407–08, 311 P.3d 1260 (2013)). In *Post*, the offender had argued for the first time on appeal that the diagnosis of paraphilia Not Otherwise Specified<sup>7</sup> - rape "is not based on sound scientific principles," and as such, admission of evidence of this diagnosis violated his right to substantive due process. *Post*, 145 Wn. App. at 754. The Court of Appeals declined to review the challenge, noting that Post, "improperly attempts to transform that which should have been raised as an evidentiary challenge in the trial court into a question of constitutional significance on appeal", and rejected Post's "attempt to sidestep the fact that he did not seek a *Frye* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The American Psychiatric Ass'n, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, (Fifth Edition) (DSM-V) uses the label Other Specified Paraphilic Disorder when referring to paraphilic disorders that are not explicitly named in the manual. The DSM-IV (American Psychiatric Ass'n, *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (4th ed.) (DSM-IV-TR)) used the label Paraphilia Not Otherwise Specified to describe this same set of paraphilias.

hearing in the trial court" *Id.* at 755. As a result, the court determined that he had not preserved an evidentiary challenge for review. *Id.* at 756.

Like *Post*, Malone here argues that though he failed to request a *Frye* hearing before the trial court, the Court of Appeals should have analyzed the admissibility of Otherwise Specified Paraphilic Disorder, nonconsent under the *Frye* standard. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected Malone's argument, following the controlling *Johnston-Forbes* decision which endorsed the *Post* analysis.

Malone also argues that the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with *State v. Black*, 108 Wn.2d 336, 745 P.2d 12 (1987). But he is wrong.

The record is clear that Malone's sole basis of his objection to the admissibility of Dr. Phenix's diagnosis was under ER 702 and 703. CP 185 – 201. The trial court ruled on that challenge alone and denied the motion to exclude under ER 702 and 703. Trial RP at 89. The trial court observed that *In re Personal Restraint of Young*, 122 Wn.2d 1, 28-29, 857 P.2d 989 (1993) and *In re Detention of Berry*, 160 Wn. App. 374, 248 P.3d 592 (2011) "seem to indicate that this type of diagnosis is allowable[,]" and, noting that Dr. Phenix's testimony regarding her diagnosis "will be subject, I'm sure, to significant cross examination." Trial RP at 89.

In *Black*, defense counsel objected to the admissibility of testimony regarding "rape trauma syndrome" but did not specify the grounds under

which they were objecting. *Id.* at 339. On appeal, the State argued that defense counsel did not specifically object to the scientific reliability or acceptance of the syndrome, and was thereby precluded from raising the issue on appeal. *Id.* at 340. This Court held that consistent with ER 103(a)(1) "[a]lthough counsel did not specifically raise a challenge to the reliability of rape trauma syndrome as a means of proving rape, this ground for objection is readily apparent from the circumstances." *Id.* 

Unlike *Black*, Malone *did* specify the grounds for which he was objecting, which did not include a *Frye* challenge. The motion was specifically made to exclude the testimony pursuant to ER 702 and 703. Trial RP at 82-89. An evidentiary hearing pursuant to *Frye* would necessitate holding an extensive testimonial hearing prior to the beginning of trial. The fact that Malone did not raise an objection to the diagnosis prior to the first day of trial, further indicates that he did not anticipate testimony on the issue, and was making a motion under ER 702 and 703 only.

Malone now argues before this Court that although trial counsel did not "explicitly" request a *Frye* hearing, trial counsel's reference to certain standards such as "has never been and is not currently accepted as a legitimate diagnosis in the scientific community" was *effectively* a request for a *Frye* hearing. App. Brief. at 10. However, when a party is clear regarding the grounds under which they are objecting, the trial court cannot

be expected to further guess at what the party may also intend. Malone made the basis of his objection very clear, and it did not include a request for a *Frye* hearing. CP 185 – 201. He cannot be found to have preserved an issue that he obviously failed to reference. The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with *Black* or any decision by the Supreme Court. Malone's petition for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) should be denied.

2. Further Guidance is Not Needed as to Whether the Diagnosis of Otherwise Specified Paraphilic Disorder, Non-consent Should be Subject to a *Frye* Hearing.

For decades, this Court has provided clear guidance to the lower courts to determine if a *Frye* hearing is necessary for the admission of psychological opinions. Further guidance is not needed in this case.

A trial court must first determine "if the evidence in question has a valid, scientific basis." *In re Young*, 122 Wn.2d 1 (1993), 56, 857 P.2d 989 (1993), (citing, *State v. Cauthron*, 120 Wn.2d 879, 889, 846 P.2d 502 (1993)). "Under *Frye*, '[t]he core concern...is only whether the evidence being offered is based on established scientific methodology." *In re Young*, 122 Wn.2d at 56, 857 P.2d 989 (1993), (citing, *Cauthron*, 120 Wn.2d at 889, 846 P.2d 502 (1993)). However, the *Frye* test is unnecessary if the evidence does not involve new methods of proof or new scientific principles. *State v. Baity*, 140 Wn.2d 1, 10-11, 991 P.2d 1151 (2000).

Here, no "novel method of proof" or "new scientific evidence" was implicated. The science at issue is not the specific diagnosis, but standard psychological analysis. See also *In re Det. of Berry*, 160 Wn. App. 374, 378, 248 P.3d 592 (2011), *rev. denied*, 172 Wn.2d 1005, 257 P.3d 665 (2011).

The sciences of psychology and psychiatry are not novel; they have been an integral part of the American legal system since its inception. Although testimony relating to mental illnesses and disorders is not amenable to the types of precise and verifiable cause and effect relation petitioners seek, the level of acceptance is sufficient to merit consideration at trial.

In re Young, 122 Wn.2d at 57.

While there may be disagreement regarding the diagnosis of Otherwise Specified Paraphilic Disorder, Nonconsent, there is substantial literature in support of it as a valid distinct diagnostic category. Conflicting opinions on the acceptance of the diagnosis do not demonstrate unreliability of an expert's testimony, but go "to the weight of the evidence rather than to its admissibility." *In re Det. of Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d 724, 756, 72 P.3d 708 (2003). As Dr. Phenix explained, not every individual with abnormal sexual arousal fits neatly into the specific categories under a paraphilia in the DSM-V. Thus, "when there is an individual with an abnormal sexual arousal pattern over at least a six month period of time and there's no specific descriptor in the paraphilia chapter," this category would be used. Trial RP at 266.

In *In re Young*, both appellants were diagnosed with a rape paraphilia, described at trial as "Paraphilia Not Otherwise Specified" or Paraphilia NOS. 122 Wn.2d at 29. This Court explained that the concept of a "mental abnormality" encompasses a larger variety of disorders than just those listed in the DSM. *Id.* at 28. This Court also noted that the DSM is not sacrosanct and found appellants' rape paraphilias to be valid mental abnormalities. *Id.* at 30. See also *Berry*, 160 Wn. App. at 379.

Most recently, this Court upheld its previous opinions in *Matter of Det. of Belcher*, No. 93900-4, 2017 WL 3526856 (Wash. August 17, 2017). Belcher petitioned for his release from civil commitment. At a bench trial, the Court determined he still met the criteria of an SVP. The State's expert psychologist, Dr. Brian Judd, diagnosed Belcher with antisocial personality disorder (ASPD) with high levels of psychopathy. He also gave him a "rule out" paraphilia diagnosis stating that he exhibited certain paraphilic traits in the past but did not exhibit enough now for a full diagnosis. Judd opined that the ASPD was significant enough to qualify as a "mental abnormality." *Id.* at 3.

Belcher, among other challenges, claimed that his "ASPD" diagnosis was insufficient to prove lack of control for due process purposes." *Id.*, at p. 5. This Court disagreed. "The law recognizes that psychiatric medicine is an imprecise science and is subject to differing

opinions as to what constitutes mental illness." *Id.*, at 14 (citing, *Kansas v. Hendricks*, 521 U.S. 346, 358 – 59, 117 S.Ct. 2072, 138 L.Ed.2d 501 (1997).) "Because of this, there is no "talismanic significance" to any particular diagnosis. Rather, it is the 'diagnosis of a mental abnormality, coupled with a history of sexual violence, which gives rise to a serious lack of control' and creates a likelihood for re-offense that renders a person an SVP." *Id.*, (citing *In re Det. Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d 724, 762, 72 P.3d 708 (2003).)

"[T]here is no particular diagnosis that renders someone an SVP." *Id.*, at 15 (citing *Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d at 762). "Rather, it is a finding that a person's diagnosis affects his or her ability to control his or her actions and thereby renders him or her a danger if not confined." *Id.* Contrary to Malone's argument, it is not significant *what* Dr. Phenix labeled her diagnosis; what is important is that the fact finder properly found that the disorder affected his likelihood of re-offense. *See Belcher*, No 93900 at 15.

This Court has provided sufficient guidance to the lower courts as to when a *Frye* hearing should be held. Respondent's petition for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) should be denied.

3. The Court of Appeals Decision Finding No Cause for Reversal Based on Malone's Claim of Ineffective Assistance of Counsel Is Consistent with Prior Decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals.

Malone argues that the Court of Appeals decision regarding ineffective assistance of counsel was in conflict with prior decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals. Again, he is wrong.

a. The Court of Appeals Consistently Applied the Test Established by this Court's When It Determined Malone's Counsel Was Not Ineffective.

First, Malone argues that the Court of Appeals did not consider the totality of the evidence by failing to consider evidence he presented at trial. Pet. Brief at 18. The Court of Appeals, however, analyzed Malone's claim primarily under *State v. Nichols* and *State v. McFarland*. "In order to establish that counsel was ineffective, a defendant must show that counsel's conduct was deficient and that the deficient performance resulted in prejudice." *State v. Nichols*, 161 Wn.2d 1, 8, 162 P.3d 1122 (2007) (cites excluded). There is a strong presumption that counsel's representation was effective. *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). To satisfy his burden, defendant must show counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. *Id.* Even if counsel was deficient, defendant must also show prejudice, which requires him to show "that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional

errors, the outcome of the proceeding would have been different." *Id.*Malone failed to meet this test.

The Court of Appeals decision is also consistent with the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). When *Strickland* is read in its totality, the Court of Appeals decision is directly in line with the standards articulated by the United States Supreme Court, as well as this Court. "[A] court making the prejudice inquiry must ask if the defendant has met the burden of showing that the decision reached would reasonably likely have been different absent the error." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 696. Similarly, in *Nichols*, this Court has more recently held "[p]rejudice is established if the defendant shows that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the outcome of the proceeding would have been different." *Nichols*, 161 Wn.2d at 8.

Using the standard set by this Court, the Court of Appeals concluded that even if a *Frye* hearing had been requested, and the diagnosis excluded, there was not a reasonable probability that the outcome would have been different. *Opinion* at 10.

[T]he State presented abundant evidence that Malone suffered from pedophilia, which is a basis to make an SVP finding. Malone was not prejudiced by counsel's failure to request a <u>Frye</u> hearing, because even without Dr. Phenix's

other specified paraphilic disorder, nonconsent diagnosis, the jury could have found that Malone was an SVP.

Id.

The Court of Appeals looked to *In re Meirhofer*, for guidance. *Id.* at 10 (citing, *In re Personal Restraint of Meirhofer*, 182 Wn.2d 632, 343 P.3d 731 (2015).) Malone argues that by citing to *Meirhofer*, the Court of Appeals incorrectly applied a sufficiency of the evidence standard. To the contrary, the Court of Appeals acknowledged, "[w]hile the procedural posture of this case differs from *Meirhofer*, we consider it instructive." *Opinion* at 10.

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